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REIKA, U.S. DISTRICT JUDGE:

Defendant NavienCorporation (“Navient”) is one of the country’s largest serviadrs
student loans.(D.I. 59 at T 90). The Individual Defendants are officers and/or directors of
Navient! (Id. at 1 3632, 17280). The Underwriter Defendants served as underwriters on two
debt offeringsmadeby Navient between April 17, 2014 and December 28, 20ttt (Class
Period”)? (Id. at Y 81-90). (Navient, the Individual Defendants, and the Underwriter
Defendants are referred to collectively'Bsefendants.”)Lead plaintiffs, referred to collectively
as the Lord Abbett Funds, allege tifendants made false and misleading disclostwesg
the Class Perioél Specifically, theSecond AnendedComplaint allegs violations of Sections
10(b) and 20(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 198+% (Exchange Act’andSectionsll,
12(a)(2), andl5 of the Securities Act of 1933tlfe Securities Act”) (Id. at Y 15561, 203-24.

Pending before the Court iBefendants motion to dismiss theSecond Amended
Complaint pursuant toRules9(b) and 12(b)(6)f the Federal Rules of Civil Procedund
pursuant tahe Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1998h¢ PSLRA”) (D.l. 63). The
Court has subject matter jurisdiction over this action pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1331 (fedstiaihqu

jurisdiction), 15 U.S.C. 8§ 78aa (jurisdiction faiolations of the Exchange Act), ai8d U.S.C.

! The Individual Defendants adehn F. Remondi, Somsak Chivavibidshn KaneWilliam
M. Diefenderfer, Ill, Ann Torre Bates, Diane Suitt Gilleland, Lindd$/Barry A. Munitz,
StevenL. Shapiro, Jane J. Thompson, and Barry L. Williams.

2 The Underwtter Defendants amarclays Capital Inc., Credit Suisse Securities USA LLC,
Deutsche Bank Securities Inc., Goldman, Sachs & Co., J.P. Morgan Securities, LLC
Merrill Lynch, Pierce, Fenner & Smith Incorporated, RBC Capital MarkétS, RBS
Securities Inc.andWells Fargo Securities LLC

3 The Lord Abbett Funds are comprisedtioé Lord Abbett Affiliated Fund, Incthe Lord
Abbett Equity Trust-ord Abbett Calibrated Mid Cap Value Furttie Lord Abbett Bond-
Debenture Fund, Inc., atige Lord Abbettinvestment Trust.ord Abbett High Yield Fund



§ 77v (jurisdiction for violations of the Securities Act). For thkowing reasons, the motidio
dismiss iggrantedin-part and deniedi-part.

l. BACKGROUND

Navientis a loan management, servicing, and assert recovery business. {D.EX51
at 6). Navient’s stock price went from a high of $21.40 on February 27, 2015 to a low of $11.46
on December 28, 2015, the last day of the Class Period. (D.l. 59 at1®%}. 1Several faintiffs
suedallegng that thelossin stock pricecan be attributed to fe¢ and misleading disclosures made
by Defendants during the Class Period. On July 1, 2016, those actiornsowsoédatedand on
September 28, 201&laintiffs filed an Amended ©mplaint in the consolidated class action
(D.I. 36). Defendants movea tdismiss theAmended ©mplaint for failure to state a claim
(D.I. 38), and theCourt granted the motion to dismisscaus¢heAmended @mplaint improperly
relied on puzzlepleadingthat failed to set forth &short and plaih statement of their claims
(D.I. 55 at 67; D.I. 56). On November 17, 2017, Plaintiffs filed BecondAmendedComplaint
(D.1. 59) (referred to hereinafter as “ti@mplaint”), whichis the subject to the current motion to
dismiss. (D.l. 63). To minimize repetition, th€ourt will discuss relevartiackgroundactswith
each group of statemerdsissue in Defendants’ motion whigrliscusses whether tif@mplaint
states a claim with respect@achgroup ofstatements

. STANDARD OF REVIEW

A. Rule 12(b)(6)

To survive a motion to dismiss undeule 12(b)(6),a plaintiff must plead facts sufficient
to “state a claim to relief that is plausible on its fac&shcroft v. Igbal 556 U.S. 662, 6778
(2009) (quotingBell Atl. Corp. v. Twombly550 U.S. 544, 570 (2007))Courts must accept all

well-pleaded factual allegations in @ngplaint as true and draw all reasonable inferences in favor



of the plaintiff. In re Rockefeller CtrProp., Inc. SeclLitig., 311 F.3d 198, 215 (3d Ciz002).
TheCourt’s review is limited to the allegations in tte@mplaint, exhibits attached to tbemplaint,
documents incorporated by reference, and items subject to judicial nddieeulec v. J.M.
Adjustment Serv., LL@65 F.App’x 200, 202 (3d Cir. 2012).

B.  Rule9(b) & the PSLRA

Securities fraud claims are subjecttt@ heightened pleading requirementdRofe 9(b)
and the PSLRA.Inst. Inv'rs Grp. v. Avaya, Inc564 F.3d 242, 253 Cir. 2009). Rule 9(b)
requires gplaintiff to “state with particularity the circumstancesnstituting fraud or mistake.”
Fed. R. Civ. P. 9(b). Put another way, Rule 9(b) requires that a plaintiff settferttviio, what,
when, where and howof the alleged fraudln re Advanta CorpSec. Litig, 180 F.3d 525, 534
(3d Cir. 1999). Under the PSLRAplaintiffs must (1) “specify each statement alleged to have
been misleading and the reason or reasons why the statement is misieadin(@) “state with
particularity facts giving rise ta strong inference that the defendant acted with the required state
of mind.” Tellabs, Inc. v. Makor Issues & Rights, Lt851 U.S. 308, 321 (200@nternal citations
and punctuation omitted) (quoting 15 U.S.C. § ZBb)X1)and 15 U.S.C. § 784{b)(2)).

C. Claimsthat Sound in Fraud

When Rcurities Act claiméare grounded in fraud rather than negligehtiee heightened
pleading standard of Rule 9@pplies Cal. Public EmployeeéfRet. Sys. v. Chubb Cor894 F.3d
126, 161 (3d Cir2004). It doesnot, however,appear that th&ecuritiesAct claims ofthe
Complairt are grounded in a theory of fraud. In addresBilantiffs’ First Amended Complaint,
which was dismissed, theourt applied a heightened pleading standard to Plaintiffs’ Securities
Act claims, because the Securities Act claims incorporated allegations fronxdhanige Act

claims that Defendants “knew or recklessly disregarded” Navient's “impropastiges.”



(SeeD.I. 55 at 6 (citing D.l. 36 at  24)). Ti@omplaint does not repeat this problefinally,
even if Rule 9(b) did apply, Defendants have done no more than makesarteree&onclusory
argument that the Securities Act claims are not geadh particularity (D.l. 64 at 24). Thiss
not enough for th€ourt to reaclthe sameonclusiont did previously ThustheCourt’s decision
notto apply Rule 9(b) to the Securities Act claidues not affect the outcome of this motion.

1. DISCUSSION

Counts 1 and 2 ofhe Complaint assertclaims under Sectiors 10(b)and 20(a) of the
Exchange Actrespectively. (D.l. 59 at 11 18.). Counts 3, 4, and 5 asseivlations of Sectiors
11, 12(a)(2), and 16f theSecurities Act, respectivelyld. at213-24). Liability underSection
20(a) of the Exchange Act and Section 15 of the Securities Act is predicafedtdmding
liability underSection 10(b) of the Exchange Aamd Sections 11 or 12 of the Securities Act.
Consistent with that framework, Defendants have confined their arguments on tbe tooti
dismiss to whether thEomplaint pleads a claim under Section 10(b) of the Exchange Act and
Sections 11 and 12(a)(2) of the Securities Act.

The Court will first set out of the elements of a claim underrgievantstatutory sections
It will then elaborate on the standards for pleading the elements on which Defendardsusace f
their motion, to wit, materiality, falsity, and scientdfinally, theCourt will address whether the
Complaint meetd those standards.The Complaint hasarrangedthe purportedly false and

misleading statements into thrg@ups compliance, credit facilities, and loans. The “loan” topic

Section 20(a) of the Exchange Act imposes joint and several liability omédiwdual
who exercises control over a person, including a corporation, who has committéda Se
10(b) violation. City of Edinburgh Council v. Pfizer, In&Z54 F.3d 159, 177 (3d Cir. 2014)
(citation omitted); 15 U.S.C. 8 78t(a). Section 15 of the Securities Act providesrfor j
and several liability on any individual who controls a violator of Sestidnor 12. 15
U.S.C. 8770;In re Suprema Specialties, Inc. Sec. Ljit488 F.3d 256,24 3d Cir.2006).



is further divided into four suligups the quality of the loan portfolidorbearance practicel®an
loss provisions, and SOX certifications. Defendants Isatdorthseveral arguments as to why
allegations regardingachgroup and subgroupf statements faslto adequately plead materiality,
falsity, and/or scienter.

A. The Relevant Statutory Sections

1. Exchange Act Claims: § 10(b) and Rule 10b-5

Section 10(b) of the Exchange Act makes it unlawful for any person to “use or employ, in
connection with the purchase or sale of any securityany manipulative or deceptive device or
contrivance in contraveéion of such rules and regulations as the Commission may prescribe as
necessary or appropriate in the public interest or for the protection of investdsU.S.C.
§ 78j(b). SEC Rule 105 implements this provision by making it unlawful to, among attegs,
“make any untrue statement of a material fact or to omit to state a material fact ryeicessier
to make the statements made, in the light of the circumstances under which theyade, not
misleading.” 17 CFR § 240.10kb(b). Thus, b statea claim forviolation of Section10(b) and
Rule 10b-5Plaintiffs must prove “(1) a material misrepresentation or omission by the defendant
(2) scienter; (3) a connection between the misrepresentation or omission and theepoircade
of a security; (4) reliance upon the misrepresentation or omission; (5) econcsn@ndg6) loss
causation.” Stoneridge Investment Partners, LLC v. Scieniffitanta, Inc, 552 U.S. 148, 157
(2008) In re DVI, Inc. Sec. Litig 639 F.3d 623, 63@1 (3d Cir.2011). Defendants’ motion to
dismiss focuses on the elements of mateyialitd scienter.

2. Securities Act Claim: Sections 11 and 12(a)(2)
Section 11 of the Securities Act imposes liability where “any part of thistragpn

statement, when such part became effective, contained an untrue statement of afawterial



omitted to state a material fact required to be stated therein or necessary to make thetstatemen
therein not misleading.” 15 U.S.C. 8 77k(8gctionl2(a)(2) imposes liability where a prospectus
or oral communication “includes an untrue statement of a material fact or omiteta staterial
fact necessary in order to make the statements, in the light of the circumstatereshioh they
were madenot misleading.”ld. at8 771(a)(2). Thus, under botBection11 and Section 12(a)(2)
a plaintiff must show a material misstatement or omission, but Section 11 focusggstiation
statements and Section 12(a)(2) focuses on prospeetodesal comnunications. In re Adams
Golf, Inc. Sec. Litig 381 F.3d 267, 2734 (3dCir. 2004) “Fraud. . .is not a necessary element
to establish a prima facie claim under Section 11 or Section 12(a){®ss the Securities Act
claims are grounded in frauth re Suprema Specialties, Inc. Sec. Lj#$8 F.3d 256, 27@¢ Cir.
2006). As the Court has alreadyetermined for the reasons explained above, that Plaintiffs’
Securities Act claims are not grounded in fraud, the only element at issueder dlans is
materiality.

B. Standardsfor Pleading Materiality, Falsity, and Scienter

1. Materiality

A statement or omission is material if there is “a substantial likelihood that a rel@sonab
shareholder would consider it important in deciding hojatdd.” In re Aetna, Inc. Sec. Litig
617 F.3d 272, 283 (3d Ci2010) @lteration in original) quoting TSC Indus., Inc. v. Northway,
Inc., 426 U.S. 438, 44€1976)). e statement or omission must have “significantly altered the
total mix of information made availly” Aetng 617 F.3d at 283 (quotiriasic Inc. v. Levinsgn
485 U.S. 224, 232 (1988) A statement is notnaterialif it involves “subjective analysis or
extrapolations, such aspinions, motives and intentions, or general statements of optifnism

Aena, 617 F.3d at 283 (quotingP MedSystems, Inc. v. EchoCath,. 235 F.3d 865, &



(3dCir. 2000)). “Such statementsconstitute no more than puffery and are understood by
reasonable investors as such&&tng 617 F.3d at 283 (quotirlg re Advanta 180 F.3dcat 539.
2. Falsity

Materiality and falsityare separate elements with distinct requirementSee e.g,
Emps.Ret. Sys. of R v. Williams Cos 889 F.3d 1153, 1168 (10th C018)(explaining that
“materiality is an element of the claim in addition to fal§ityTo establish falsity, th@ SLRA
requires aomplaintto pleadwith particularitythe“the reasons wtiythe statemestwere false or
misleadingwhen made Avaya 564 F.3dat 252 Chubh 394 F.3dat 142 (explaining that falsity
requires aomplaint to pleadthe‘true facts purporting to shovhowor whythose statements are
fals€ (emphasis in original)) Thus, materiality goes to why a statement is important, and falsity
goes to why a statement is untrue or misleading.

3. Scienter

Under the PSLRAa complaint must “state with particularity facts giving rise to a strong
inference that the defendants actethvhe required state of mirid.e., that defendants acted with
“scienter.” 15 U.S.C. § 78w4(b)(2)(A), Rahman v. Kid Brands, Inc736 F.3d 237, 242
(3dCir. 2013). Scienter is defined as aktiowing or recklessmental statéembracing intent to
deceive, manipulate, or defralid OFI Asset Mgmt. v. Cooper Tire & Rubb8B84 F.3d 481, 490
(3d Cir. 2016) (quotingAvaya 564 F.3dat 252). Recklessnesis “not merely simple, or even
inexcusable negligence, but an extreme departure from the stantlardsary care, and which
presents a danger of misleading buyers or sellers that is either knowndefehdant or is so
obvious that the actor must have been aware of Avaya 564 F.3dat 267 n.42(quoting

In re Advanta 180 F.3cat535).



“A ‘strong inferenceof scienter is one that i€ogent and at least as compelling as any
opposing inference of nonfraudulent inténtAvaya 564 F.3dat 267 (quotingTellabs, Inc. v.
Makor Issues & Rights, Ltd127 S.Ct. 2492504-05 (2007) “The pertinent question igvhether
all of the facts alleged, taken collectively, give rise to a strong inferenceeoteginot whether
any individual allegation, scrutinized in isolation, meets that startdafdiayg 564 F.3dat 267
(emphasis in original) (quotintellabs 127 S.Ct. at 2509 Finally, he inference of scientemust
be more than merely reasonable or permisdibokeneed not be irrefutable.City of Roseville
Employees’ Ret. Sys. v. Horizon Lines,.|Id@2 F.App'x 672, 675(3d Cir. 2011) (internal
punctuation and citation omitted).

C. Compliance

The Complaint alleges that Defendants madaterially false or misleading statements
regarding Navient's complianceith legal and regulatory requirementgD.l. 59 at{ 93.
Specifically,it allegesthatin public statements to investofdavientpurported to have a “robust

compliance drive culture,” a very, very strong compliance culture,” “demonstrated compliance
infrastructure,” and “rigorous training programsld.]. Consistent with cases addressing similar
statements, th€ourt finds thathe compliance statements on which Plairtiffemplaint restre

not materiagl but insteactonstitute inactionable pufferySeePhila. Fin. Mgmt. of S.F., LLC v.
DJSPEnters., Inc, 572 F. App’x 713, 716 (11th Cir. 2014}dtementabout “rigorous” processes
and “effective” trainingwere not material because those terms “do not assert specific [and]
verifiable facts” on which reasonable investors would retyye Samfi Sec. Litig, 155 F. Supp.

3d 386, 401 (S.D.N.Y. 2016) (statement that company “maintain[s] an effective anogpli
organization” is corporate pufferyn re Ocwen Fin. Corp. Sec. Litig015 WL 12780960, at *7

(S.D. Fla. Sept. 4, 2015%tatementhat company had “robust’ compliance contrakspuffery),



In re Gentiva Sec. Litig 932 F.Supp.2d 352, 370 (E.D.N.Y2013) (description of compliance
program as “robust” or “besitf-class”is puffery); Footbridge Ltd. v. Countrywide Home Loans,
Inc.,2010 WL 3790810, at24 (S.D.N.Y.Sept. 282010) tatement that company is “maintaining
a very strong internal control environment” is inactionable puffery).

The Court is not persuaded liye casedlaintiffs cited to show that the compliance
statements are materidbecausethe financial statements evaluated in those cases are not
sufficiently analogous to tHegal compliancatatements Plaintifallegehere. SeeD.I. 67 at 14
16 (citing Shapiro v. UJB Financial Cotp964 F.2d 272, ZB(3d Cir. 1992)(statement that the
company’soan loss reserves are “adequai@idin re Wilmington Trust Sec. Litig29 F.Supp.
3d 432, 447 (DDel. 2014) (statement thathe company “tonsistently’ appliedrigorous loan
underwriting standard$. It could be argued that “adequate” and “rigorous,” in a financial
context, imply aguantifiableamount of moneywhereas the sanweords in a compliance context
do not infera quantifiable amount of compliance. Accordingly, Plaintiffs’ cases ate no
illuminating on the issue of whether Defendants’ compliance statements are mtfeablants’
motion to dismiss th portion ofPlaintiffs’ claimsbased on the compliance statements is granted.
The portion of Plaintiffs’ Securities Adlaims,and Exchange ét claims based on compliance
statements is dismissedth prejudice.

D. Credit Facilities

The Complaint alleges that Navient made false or misleading statements when it reported
the borrowing capacity under its credit facilities, because Navient faildiddimse the likelihood
thatthe Federal Home Loan Bank of Des Moines (“FHDRBI”) would terminde Navient’'s access
to those credit facilities in light of a proposed rule by the Federal Hp&smance Agency‘the

FHFA"). (D.l. 59 at 11 1389). In September 2014, tié1FA proposed a rule that woutdevent



entities fromusing a “captive insurerto gain membershipo a Federal Home Loan Barlke
FHLB-DM. (Id. at T 13). Navierd predecessor Sallie Mae formed a captive insurer which
Navient then used to access the FHDRB!'s credit facility. (Id.). Thus,the propose rule, which
was adopted as final rule in January 2016, impadtNavient’s ability to obtain lowcost credit
to fund its operations(ld.). On December 28, 2015, Navient disclosed that the FBEIMBvould
reduce the company’s ability to borrow under its credit facility by more 5084 a change the
Complaint alleges is material because the-tmst credit available under the FHIEBMV was not
available from other sourcefld. at]13). Defendants argue that tBemplaint fails to adequately
plead materiality and scienterwith respect to the credit facility statement®.l. 64 at 1617,
D.I. 69 at 15).Each element is addressed in tbatow.
1. Materiality

The Complaint alleges thaunder SEC Regulationblavienthad a duty to disclose the
“serious risk” that the FHLEDM would terminate Navient's access to the credit faailitg tothe
FHFA'’s proposed rule. (D.l. 59 at  23@2). Specificallyjt alleges thaiNavientviolated its
duty under SEC Regulation-%, Rule 0502-22, todisclose the“conditions under which
commitments may be withdrawn.”ld( at  141). It also alleges thdiavient violated its duty
under SEC Regulation-&, Rule 303 to “[i]dentify any known trends or any known demands,
commitments, eants oruncertainties that will result in or that are reasonably likely to result in the
[company]'s liquidityincreasing or decreasing in any material Wwaiyd. at I 142).

Defendants’ motion to dismisodsnot discussRule 0502-22 or Rule 303 or whether
these rules do in fact impose a duty to disclose the FHFA’s proposed rule rggaagtive
insurers.While Defendants mentioned that the proposed rule was public informatiorddhet

explain the significance of #h factor provide citationdo case lawshowing thatit is proper



grounds for dismissal. SeeD.l. 69 at 9).Defendants also suggest that the risk was in fact disclosed
whenthe 2014 Form K stated that “regulatory actions” are one of many “factors that could
make financing more expensive or unavailable to Navief8€eD.l. 64 at 17). Bt Defendants
did notexplain,with citation to case law, how this statement was more than mere boilerplate and
provided adequate warning with respect to the proposed FHFA rule. Finally, Defertiaats r
Gaer v. Education Management Cotp suggest thatas amatter of law a company is'’not
obligated to predicimonths in advance about thHimal regulations that eventually issué
SeeD.l. 64 at 17 (citingsaerv. Educ. Mgmt. Corp2011 WL 7277447, at *2 (W.[Pa.Aug. 3Q
2011). But this reliance is misplaced, because the quote is taken out of context.

The courtiin Gaeressentially held that a company did not heveredict, at the time of its
initial public offering (“IPQO”), that the Department of Education would adopt a final rule over a
year later, when the only activity before the IPO was an announcement thatptmni2atof
Educationplanned to form a negotiated rulemaking committee, that coperattentually failed
to produce any rules, and the rules finally adopted came about after a stoptgmndctas.Gaer,
2011 WL 7277447, at *25, *23. Defendants have not shown that a similar start and stop process
hindered its ability to disclose amigk from the FHFA’s proposed rule. More importgnthe
court inGaerultimatelyrejected thelaintiff's argument because thempany‘did warn investors
about the potential impact that the rulemaking might fiavéd. at*23. Therefore Defendants

have failed to show that theredit facility statements are not materidbefendants’ motion to

The other cases cited by Defendants are equally unhelpfiflatiixx Initiatives, Inc. v.
Siracusanpthe U.S. Supreme Court held that plaintiffs stated a claim for relief based on a
pharmaceutical company’s failure to disclose reports of adverse medicé.eb63 U.S.
27,30 (2011). Inn re Morgan Stanley Info. Fund Sec. Lifitne court addressadhether

the defendants had an affirmative obligation in registration statements and furespec
filed on Form N-1A to disclose conflicts of interests. 592 F.3d 347, 351 (2d Cir. 2010).

10



dismiss the portion of the Securities Act claims based on the credit facility stésemedenied.
Dismissal of the Exchange Act claims based on the cfadiity statements will depend on
whether Defendants have shown that the Complaint fails to adequately plead.scienter

2. Scienter

To plead scienter with respect to the credit facility statement§ahmplaint relies on: (i)
the “core operations doctrine” and (ii) motive and opportunity. (D.l. 59 at $148)7 Underthe
core operations doctrine, when the misrepresentations and omissions irteoleeattersof
central importanceo thecompany and itprincipleexecutives, an inference of scienter may arise.
Avaya 564 F.3dat 268 It is not enough, however, to allege that the misrepresentations and
omissions involve core matters, becausaporate managemeéntgeneral awareness of the day
to-day workings of the compals/business doemt establish scientérRahman736 F.3cht 246-

47 (quotingMetzler Inv GMBH v. Corinthian Coll Inc., 540 F.3d 1049, 1068 (9th CR&008)).
There must also bestme additional allegations of specific information conveyed to management
and related téraud.” Rahman 736 F.3d at 237 (quotingetzler, 540 F.3d at 1068).

To show motive and opportuniticatch-all allegations that defendants stood to benefit
from wrongdoing and had the opportunity to implement a fraudulent scherfmogrsufficient,
because they do not state facts with particularity or give rise to a stremgnoé of scienter.”
GSC Partners368 F.3d at 237 (quotirig re Advanta180 F.3dat 535). In addition “[m]otives
that are generally possessed by most corpadatctors and officers do not suffice; instead,
plaintiffs must assert a concrete and personal benefit to the individual deferefariting from
this fraud.” GSC Partners 368 F.3d at 237 (quotingalnit v. Eichler 264 F.3d 131, 139

(2d Cir. 2001)).

11



Here, Plaintiff$ allegationsrelated to the FHFA’s proposed rudee insufficient to give
rise to a strong inference of scientefhe Complaint does no more than make the conclusory
allegation that the FHLEOM credit facility was “central[]” to Navient’s ability to fund its
operations. (D.l. 59 at T 147). ha Gmplaint does not allege, as requirddat specific
information regarding the impact of the proposed FHA rule was conveyed to management. Thus
there is no inference of scienter as he tcredit facility statementsased on the core operations
doctrine. Similarly, theComplaint makes a single conclusory allegation that “Defendants were
highly motivated to conceal negative information threatening the Company’sityguidid. at
1 148) It does not, howeverllege as requiredany “concrete and personal benefit to the
individual defendants resulting from this fraudSeeGSC Partners368 F.3d at 237. Thus, the
Complaint does not give rise to any inference of scienter, let alone a strong one, baséiggen m
and opportunity. Given the foregoirtge Gurt grants Defendants’ motion to dismiss the portion
of the Exchange Act claims based on the credit facility statements for failadedquately plead
the element of scienter. Those claims are dismissed without prejudice.

E. L oans

TheComplaint alleges that Defendants matgerial statements regardiNgvient’s loans
that were false and misleadindf. dividesthe allegations regarding the materiality Ig&vient's
loansinto four subsections. The first section addresses tttegh quality” of Navient’'s loan
portfolio, includingthe “low level” ofdelinquencies and chargdfs. (D.l. 59 at Y 5®3). The
secondsection addresses statements regarding Navient’'s forbearance pratdicas{ i 3349).

The third section addressBsvient’'s loan losprovisions (Id. at 1 5463). The last section
addresses SOX certificatiorssgnedby Navient's chief executive officer (“CEQ”) and chief

financial officer (“CFO”) (Id. at 1Y 6466). Finally, the Complaint sets forth the scienter

12



allegations as to the loan statements collectively separate section(ld. at T 6793). The
Courtwill discuss the materialitgnd/or falsityof each group olban statementseparately before
addressing the scienter allegations collectively.
1. L oan Portfolio Quality: Charge-Offsand Delinquencies

Plaintiffs allege that Defendants made misrepresentations regarding tHay*gog
Navient's loan portfolio, including the number of delinquencies and claifgé (D.l. 59 at
115051). This subsection of th€omplaint attacls two types of statements: statements
characterzing Navient’s loan portfolio and statements reporting on the portfolio’s performance.
The first type includes statementthat the company hassttong underwriting and customer
support,’a “[I]Jarge, high quaty asset basednda “[s]easoned portfolid (Id.). Thesecondype
includesstatementshat the company “set a six ye&cord low in delinquenciesind“show[ed]
continued improvements in delinquencies and defaults since a year bgh.” (

For reasons not clear to t@®urt Defendants does natldress the materialifpr falsity)
of the loan quality statement®efendantsopeningbrief combined therguments on materiality
of the loan qualitystatement@nd loan losgrovisionsunder thebroader headingf “financial
results” but ultimately tre argumentand cases citefcused on loan loss provisions. (D.l. 64 at
7,10-14). As aresult, there is no argument, with citations to supporting case lavgsauglthe
materiality of Navient’'doan qualitystatements Becausanateriality is the only element at issue
with respect to the Securities Act clain3efendants have not shown that @amplaint fails to
plead a Securities Act claim based on the loan quality statements. Defenddiais to dismiss

the portion of the Securities Act claims based on the loan quality statementseid. d&/nless

6 A loan is delinquent when a scheduled payment is past dué.68&L, Ex. 1at1l). A

“chargeoff’” occurs when a loan is considered uncollectible. (D.l. 65-1, Ex. 2)at 40
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Defendants can show that tBemplaint fails teadequatelyplead scienter, th€ourt will also deny
Defendants’ motion to dismiss the portiontleé Exchange Act claims based on the loan quality
statements.

2. Forbearance Practices

Defendants argue that tl@g@mplaint fails to adequately plead the falsityDEfendants’
forbearance statements(D.l. 64 at 7-10).The Complaint alleges that the follving forbearance
statements were false or misleading when made: (1) Navient engaged in a “cazetfl us
forbearance,” (2) Navient applied forbearances “based on a customer’s utuqtiersi’ (3) the
company’s forbearance policies “include limits on thenber of forbearance months granted
consecutively and the total number of forbearance months granted over the lifeoafntfeuhd
(4) Navient “continue[d] to see . . . continuing positive delinquency, forbearance and-ctiarge
trends in connection with th[e] [PEL] portfolio.” (D.l. 59 at { 49). Twmplaint allegeshat
those forbearance statements were false or misleading when made, bbleaiesat ‘engaged in
a systemic practice of indiscriminately placing borrowers fioidearancg which allowed
Navient to avoid recording those accoussslelinquent or in default.ld. at T 36).

To show how or why those forbearance statements were falsgpri@aint relies on: (i)
statements from three confidential witnesses; (ii) the allegations in complaints fdetstag
Navient by the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau (“CFPB”), the Att@eegral of Illinois
and the Attorney General of Pennsylvania; and (iii) a September 2015 report by edaSElting

from a public inquiry by the CFPB, Department of Education, and the U.S. Treasuryrnbegar

! Forbearance means the borrower is granted a period of time where no payments have to be
made or the company accepts a smaller than scheduled payment. {D.EX62 at 85).
Forbearance does not grant any reduction in the total repayment obligédion.While
in forbearance, interest continues to accrue.).
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(D.I. 59 at 1 3#48). Defendants attack tli@mplaint’s reliance on confidential withesses and
government complaints as sources to show the alleged falsity of the forbestatereents.
(D.l. 64 at 810). Defendants further argue that even if@oenplaint may appropriately rely on
these types of sources, the allegations from those sources are insufficient talskigw d.).
Accordingly, theCourt will first address the appropriateness of relying on confidential witness a
government complaints, and then address whether those allegations do in fact bdplpaate
falsity.
a. Confidential Witnesses

If a complaint relies on allegations from confidential witnesses, then the éotplast
describe the confidential witnessthw“sufficient particularity to support the probability that a
person in the position occupied by the source would possess the information.’allRghchan
736 F.3dat 244 (quotingChubh 394 F.3dat 146). To assess the probability that confidential
witnesses have personal knowledge Gbart should consider: (i) “the positions formerly held by
each [confidential witness],” (ii) “the duration of each [confidential vaes'] employment,” (iii)
“the time peria during which the [confidential withesses] acquired the relevant information,” (iv)
and “how each confidential withess had access to such informatiwaya 564 F.3dat 263.
Where these facts are “found wanting,” then @oairt must “steeply” discourthe confidential
witnesses’ allegationsld. at 263. Finally, even if the confidentiakitness allegations are not
discounted, those allegations may still “fail either to establish the falsitytafeasrgent, or to give
rise to a strong inference of scienteltd. at 263 n.33 (citind/letzler, 540 F.3cat 1069 n.13).

Here, theComplaintrelies onallegationsfrom three confidential witnesses to plead the
falsity of Navient’s statements regarding its forbearance practi@es. 50 at 1 3#41). CW1

worked at Navient as a collections supervisor from early 2014 until April 20d.5at § 37). CW1
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alleged among other thingshat “theCollections Department objective all of the time was to
keep an account currenhroughusing forbearancés (Id.). According to theComplaint, this
policy directive was conveyed to CW1 by her supervisor but came Nament District
Manager/Senior Vice Presidenit Default Prevention Troy Standish, who reportediétendant
John Kanethe Chief Operating Officeof Navient. [d. at 1 32, 37). CW1 further explained that
Navient encouraged employees to place borrowers into forbearance, which tooindetizat
other options, by giving agents who wantéal ddieve a good performance ratifgst fiveand a
half minutes per phone call with borrowergld. at § 40).

CW?2 is a formeiNavientcollectionsdepartmentupervisor who worked at tr@ompany
from mid-2010 until October 2014 and supervisedc@ectionsagents (Id. at I 38). According
to CW2, “Navient Director of Operations Chriktewes instructed CW2 and others to encourage
customers to obtain longer forbearances tthay initially requested, as that would result in a
longer period during which the account wosltbw up ascurrent on Navient’s book$ (Id. at
1 38). CW2 also corroborated CW1'’s allegations regarding employee incentive®torputers
into forbearance by stating that in order to be rated “number one,” agents had toguéifin
something that makes them look like tlieyup to date for a longer period of time.Id.(at T 39).
So even if a borrower requested a short forbearance, the supervisors weed byananagement
to coach the agents to convince the borrower to obtain a longer forbeaiance. (

Finally, CW3 is aformer Navient Department of Education Specialist [l who worked at
Navient'sDelaware headquarters from June 2014 until after the Class Pédodt 141). CW3
further corroborated allegations that “Navient provided incentives to persomngletting
customers off the phone in the fastastount of timé& and that borrowers relied on Navient

customer service representatives to understand their options with respectdcafrbelf.).

16



The Court finds that the Complaidescribes each CW waiitsufficient particularity to
support the probability that the CW has personal knowledge of Navient's forbearanasepracti
Defendants assert that the Cvdflegations should be steeply discounted, because they are “all
low-level former employees” and ‘&ve not employed for the full class period.” (D.l. 64 at 8).
But other courts have not discounted a C\llsgationgust becaus¢éhose characteristics were
present See Avaya564 F.3d at 2666 (concluding that allegations from CWs who were
“relatively low level former employees” showed that certain forecalstted statements were
false);In re SLM Corp. Sec. Litig740 F.Supp.2d 542, 5551.5(S.D.N.Y.2010)(concluding that
the “CWs were positioned, albeit at low levels, to have knovdeddnow Sallie Mae implemented
its forbearance policy); Id. at 245 n.1, 260, 266€lying onallegations based on CWs who
worked at the company until March and November 280dnthough the class period was October
2004 to April 2005).

In addition,the Complaint does not rest solely on allegations from purported|y-féwms!”
employees who worked at Navient for less than the full class perib@lleges the direct
involvement of the CWSs supervisors, alleges that at least one of the CWs is omyexdks
removed from one of the individual defendants in this case, and alleges thdiahe @&en by
the CWs were guided by incentive programs, employee rating programgrigtsl s(D.I. 59 at
11 3741). It is reasonable to infer that those programs and scripts would hayeréeared and
approved by employees who are notdewel. Finally, at least one CW was employed at any
point during the Class Period. For the foregoing reason€ahedoes not agree with Defendants

that the allegationsf the CWs should be discounted.
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b. Government Complaints

To corroborate the confidential withess statementsCtimeplaint incorporates allegations
from government complaints filed in other cases. Defendants assert thiat ibispermitted.
Specifically, Defendants contend that “courts deeply discount, or decline to caxtigether,
untested allegations imped from thirdparty complaints.” (D.l. 64 at 9). The Cowdnnot
determine whether this is correct, because the few cases Defecitkadts not appear relevant to
the issue before theourt. (d. at 910).

First, Defendants rely othecourt’s statement iGaer, “the fact that the government may
join in aqui tamsuit does not demonstrate that the suit has meritl” a¢ 9 n.9 (quotingsaer,
2011 WL 7277447at *10). This, howeverjs nota qui tamaction, the government complaints
incorporated ito Plaintiffs’ Complaint are notjui tamactions, and Plaintiffs are not relying on
the fact that the government has brought an action to bolster the merits ofathesinit. Instead,
Plaintiffs rely onspecific factual allegations in the government complaint, which must under
Fed.R. Civ. P. 11 be based @reasonable inquiryto corroboratesimilar factual allegations in
its own complaint.

SecondPefendants rely oRSM Productionsvhere a district court in the Second Circuit
granted a motion to strike, becausgetond Circuit case law is clear that paragraphs in a complaint
that are either based on, or rely on, complaints in other actions that have beesedisseitiled,
or othewise not resolved, are, as a matter of law, immaterial within the meaning & .k&d. P.
12(f)” RSM Production Corp. v. Fridma®43 F.Supp.2d 382, 403 (S.D.N.Y2009) As an
initial matter, Second Circuit case law is not binding on @uart. In additionDefendants are
not asking th&ourt to strike the government allegations incorporatedir@@omplaint Finally,

there is some doubt thRSM Productiorcorrectly summarizes Second Circuit case 1&e¢e.g,
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Sec. & Exchange Comm'n. kee 720 F.Supp.2d 305, 340 (S.D.N.Y2010)(alater case from
the same circuitlerying adefendant’s motion to strikeecause “[tere is no absolute rule barring
a private plaintiff from relying on government pleadings . . . to meet the Ruleu®dblP SLR
thresholds). Given the foregoing, Defendants have not presented any binding or persuasive
authority on the issue of whether Plairdiffiay rely on allegations in government complaints to
adequately plead falsity. Therefotlee Courtwill not at thistime “deeply discount or decline to
consider altogether” those allegations.
C. Sufficiency of the Falsity Allegations

Defendants argue thtite Gomplaint fails to adequately plead the falsity of the forbearance
statements(ld. at 9). The Court, however, is not convincedneTCWs allegationstaken as true
and read in the light most favorable to plainitibntribute to an overall picture that the forbearance
statements were false when made. The CWs allege thatthe incentive pigrams, employee
rating programs, scripts, and guidance from supervistirae CWs and other collections agents in
similar positions were not “careful” about the use of forbearance, did not appafarize “based
on a customer’s unique situation,” and did not limit either the number of forbearandesmont
granted consecutively or the total number of forbearance months granted overahthé loan,”
but instead placed borrowers into forbearance indiscriminately and for thetipogsible periods
of time. In addition, Defendants addressed the sufficiency of the falsity allegatkemsftam the
government complaints in a single unhelpful senten@eeD.l. 64 at 9 (stating that “[tjhese
mundane allegations neither support leenbastic conclusionsith which Plaintiffs pair them,
nor show any systemic policy fifrbearance misu®g. Accordingly, Defendants have not shown
that theComplaint fails to adequately plead the falsity of the forbearance statentatshese

reasons, Defendants motion dismiss the parts of the Securities Act claims based on the
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forbearance statements is denied. Unless Defendants can show tiGntpiint fails to
adequately plead scienter, t@eurt will also deny Defendants’ motion to dismiss the portion of
the Exchange Act claims based on the forbearance statements.
3. Loan Loss Provisions

For each quarter from Q1 2014 to Q1 2015, Navient reported the amount of its loan loss
provisions for its Private Education Loans (“PEL%”JD.I. 59 at 7 54). Navient also reported an
amount for the full year of 20141d(). The Complaint alleges that tHean loss provisionwere
materially misstated, because “Navient's systemic use of forbeartntede what otherwise
would have added to the Company’s reported delinquencies, defaulthagdoffs artificially
depressed its loan loss provisidnéld. at  55). The @mplaint also alleges thAtavient“ failed
to properly account for losses on mtran $2.5 billion in delinquent amtfaulted PELSs of higher
risk borrowers who exitedeferment in 2014 (Id. at  62). According to Defendants, the
Complaint fails to adequately plead the falsity of the loan loss provisions ferrtasons: (i) the
lack of allegations that the loan loss model was manipulated; (ii) the improperceeban
hindsight; and (iii) the failure to meet the pleading requirements for statero&rpinion.
(D.l. 64at 1614). Each argument is addressed in turn.

First,Defendants assert that successhallenges to loan loss provisiaesjuirea plaintiff
to allege“facts showing that the defendant misapplied or manipulatgbbas lossjmodel” to
achieve a particular accounting outcor(ie.l. 64 at 14 citing Southeastern Pennsylvania Transp.

Authoiity v. Orrstown Fin. Serv., Inc2015 WL 3833849, at23-24, *27 (M.D. Pa.June 22,

A “loan loss allowance” is the amount of money tNatvienthas set aside to cover the
total amount othargeoffs expected over the next two yeafB.l. 651, Ex.2 at40). The
provision for loan lossemicreases the related allowance for loan losglels). Generally,
the allowance for loan losses rises when future chaifgeare expected to increase and
falls when future chargeffs are expected to declinéld.).
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2015) In re NAHC, Inc. Sec. Litig306 F .3d 1314, 1330 (3d Cir. 20028ssumingDefendants
are correcas to the lawandthe Court canndte certairof thatbecause the cases Defendants cite
do not say that manipulation is a requiremém Complaintalleges that Navient's systemic use
of forbearance artificially depressed Naviedan loss provisions. (D.l. 59 at § 55)ed®l in the
light most favorable to Plaiifits, thatappears to be an allegation of manipulatiBefendantslio
not explain why this allegation of manipulation is insufficient without getting into an etraig
challenge that is improper on a motion to dismiss. Specifically, Defenalanis tlat systemic
use of forbearance cannot be a form of manipulation, because Navient's loan loss sodel “i
designed to prevemirecisely [that] kind omanipulation.” (D.l. 64 at 12). Because this issue
cannot be resolved on a motion to dismissGbert isnot convinced that thEomplaint fails to
adequately plead falsityased on the manipulation of the loan loss model.

SecondDefendantsassert thathe Complaintimproperly relies orhindsightto show the
falsity of the loan loss provisions. (D.l. 64 at10). Specifically, thencreaseo the loan loss
provision in July 2015 does not show that the earlier loan loss prosigere false or misleading.
(Id.). Defendants are correct that a complaint may not rely on hindsight to shibyv faéee.g,
Orrstown 2015 WL 3833849, at *23‘[T] he fact that a compats/ loan loss reserves are
subsequently increased does not mean that the reserves were knowdegtyaiad at some earlier
time.”). But it does not appear that tBemplaint here is relying on the increase in July 2015 to
show that the earlier amounts were false or misleading.

Instead, he Complaintalleges that Defendants knew or recklessly disregarded information
which should have caused an increase to the loan loss provisions at some point earlier than July
2015. Specifically, th€omplaintalleges thaRemondi, the CEO of Navientdicatedduring

Navient’s Q22015earnings calthata cohortof borrowers exiting deferment in 2014 exheloit

21



characteristicsdong before 2014 thahormally lead to ahigher incidence of delinquencies and
chargeoffs. (D.l. 59 at  62). Remondi statttht “[t]heincidence ofdelinquency and default on
borrowers who take more time to get an undergraduate degeasly highef andthis cohort
hadreflected that trend when théymoved inand out of school multiple timegsome without
earning a degreg)and historicallyhad beeristruggling to begin witli (Id. (quoting D.l. 651,
Ex. 4 at 1112)). TheComplaint suggests that the Defendants ignored those red’flagsis
Defendants have not shown that the Complaint improperbsi@h hindsight.

Finally, Defendants argue that loan losg@®visionsare statemestof opinion and
therefore the claims based on the loan losses provisions should be dismistsaithfipto comply
with the pleading requirements @mnicare, Inc. v. Laborers Dist. Council Const. Industry
Pension Fund135 S.Ct. 13182015)(“Omnicar€). (D.l. 64 at 13).In Omicare, the Supreme
Court heldthatunder 8 11 of the Securities Act, a defendant may be liable for a false statement of
opinion if: (i) the speaker did naubjectivelyhold the stated belief; (ii) the opinion contained
embedded statements of fact and énebedded facts wenentrue; or (iii) the opiniorfomits
material facts about thegeaker'sinquiry into or knowledge concernifhithe opinion, and those
facts” conflict with what a reasonable investor would take from the statement'it$86 S.Ctat
132627, 13®. According to Defendants, th€omplaint does not allege that Defendants
subjectivelydid not believe their statements about the loan loss provisions. (D.l. 64 at 13-14).

As an initial matter, Defendants assume iainicareapplies to Plaintiffs’ Exchange Act

claims, but the Third Circuit hasot reachedhat conclusion.Jaroslawicz v. M&T Bank Corp

o Defendants argue that Remondi’'s statements reflect analysis that was aonheeéror
known before Q2 2015, but that assertion is not clear from the citation Defendants provide.
(D.l. 64 at 14 (citing D.l. 65, Ex. 4 at 6)). The earnings call transdafgsthat Navient
learned of the red flags when the company “look[ed] a little bit deeper at tlaess but
the transcript does not indicate when that deeper look occurred. (D.l. 65, Ex. 4 at 6).
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912 F.3d 96 (3d CirR018)(“We have yet to decide wheth@mnicareapplies to claims brought
under the Exchange Attand “[w] e decline to do so again today..”); In re Amarin Corp. PLC
Sec. Litig, 689 F. Appx 124, 132 n.12 (3d Cir. 2017) (“[W]e decline to decide whe@manicare
is applicable to § 10(b) claims . 7).. Because the Third Circuit has twice declinedeagcidethat
Omnicareapplies to Exchange Act claimthe Courtis reluctant todecidethat issueof first
impressionin connection with a motion to dismissparticularly given thathe parties did not
addresshe issuen their briefs.

Defendants havalso failed to show that the statemeintghis casaegarding loan loss
provisions are opinions, as opposed to fabistendants suggettat inShapiro v. UJB-inancial
Corp., the Third Circuit held that loan reserves are always statsré&wopinion. (D.l. 64 at 13
(citing Shapirq 964 F.2dat281). But thatargument has been roundly rejected by other caurts
this circuit SeeUnderland v. Alter2011 WL 4017908, at *9 (E.[Pa.Sept. 92011) tating that
“neitherShapironor any other case Defendants rely upon stands for the broad proposition that all
statements pertaining to loan loss reserves are opiniotisShapirowere limited to the type of
statementsabout loan loss provisionmade in that case, thedhapirois distinguishable. In
Shapirq the court held that'general labels™describing loan loss provisions as “adequate” or
“solid” might be actionable material misstateméft§hapirq 964 F.2dat 282. Here, Plaintiffs’
Complaintdoesnot rest orstatementabout loan loss provisions usiggneral labelsRather the

Complaint alleges that théollar amounts disclosed for the loan loss provisiere false or

10 Theothercases cited by Defendants fit within tluric of using general labels to describe

the loan loss reservesSee Wilbush v. Ambac Fin. Grp., In271 F.Supp.3d 473, 481
(S.D.N.Y. 2017) (“Ambac’s management believes that the reserves for lossese . .
adequate .. ); Orrstown 2015 WL 3833849, at *22 (stating that loan loss reserves are
adequate)
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misleading because Defendants’ systemic use of forbeanaeemt the loan loss provisions were
“artificially understated.” (D.l. 59 at § 73).

For the foregoing reasons, Defendants have not shown thaCamgplaint fails to
adequately plead the falsity of the statements regarding the loan lossomovidefendants
motion to dismiss the parts of the Securities Act claims based on statements alwarn thes
provisions is denied. Unless Defendants can show th&dhwlaint fails to adequately plead
scienter, th&Court will also deny Defendants’ motion to dismiss the portion of the Exchange Act
claims based on statements about the loan loss provisions.

4. SOX Certifications

The Complaint alleges that the false and misleading statements regarding Navient's
forbearance practices and “resulting manipulatiddadfient’s financial results” rendered the SOX
certifications by Navient’'s CEO John F. Remondi and CFO Somsak Chivavibul in thelBorm
Qs and 1K issued during th€lassPeriod false and misleading when made. (D.l. 59 at {1 64
66). Those certificationstated, in relevant part, thdtased ormy knowledge, this report does
not contain any untrue statement of material. fag.).

TheCourt will not dismiss the portion of Plaintiffs’ claims based on the SOX certifications
because Defendants’ only arguments on this issue were buried in a couple of f@tddtether
obscured by the high number of footnotes overatur®@ traditionally do not consider arguments
presented entirely in the footnoteSeeHoratio Washingdbn Depot TechLLC v. TOLMAR, Ing
2018 WL 5669168, at *13 (el. Nov. 1, 2018)declining to consider an argument raised entirely
in a footnote){JCB, Inc. v. Accord Healthcare, InQ01 F.Supp.3d 491, 542.33(D. Del. 2016)
(“Arguments that ar@resented in limited form in footnotes are entitled to little weight.

Campbell v. Sussex Ctiyed Credit Union 2015 WL 3918946, at *1 ([Del. June 22, 2015)
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(stating that “[the Court will not address issues raised in footrifjgtese also SmithKlinBeecham
Corp. v. Apotex Corp439 F.3d 1312, 1320 (Fe@ir. 2006) (stating that arguments raised only
in footnotes are not preserved).

Given the foregoing, Defendants have not shown thatCtraplaint fails to plead a
Securities Act claim based on t8©X Certifications. Defendants’ motion to dismiss the portion
of the Securities Act claims based on the SOX Certifications is denied. UrdémsdBnts can
show that theComplaint fails to plead scienter, t@®urt will also deny Defendants’ motion to
dismiss the portion of the Exchange Act claims based on the SOX Certifications.

5. Scienter

TheComplaintcollectivelyaddresses the element of scienter as to the stateragatding
Navient’sloan quality,forbearance practicegan loss provisions, anflOX Certifications(i.e.,
the “loan statements”)(D.l. 59 at {1 6B3). The sienter allegationor theloansatementsare
comprised af confidential witness allegationdd( at Y 69, 7&8); allegations taken from
government complaintdd. at §70); Remondi’s statements during Navient's Q2 2015 earnings
call (Id. at 1 75)ithe centrality of certain operations to Naviidt at §{ 7273); companywide
incentive policies and script&d( at { 71); and motive and opportunéiegations(ld. at 1174,
80-83, 124, 148).

In addressing the Complaint’s purported failto@dequately plead scienter as to the loan
statements, Defendants raise a variety of arguments, including argaineatty made elsewhere.
Specifically, Defendantarguethat: (i) the centrality of forbearance and credit to Navient’s
operations are insufficient to plead scienter under the core operations ddqa)riRemondi’s
statements July 2015do not suggest that he knew before July 2015 that the rate of dedandt w

be higher forthe cohort exiting deferment in 2014; (iii) there is insufficient detail about the
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confidential witnesses to credit their allegations; and (iv) the motive and oppostledggtions
improperly rely ora “general corporate motive.D(l. 64 at 1822). As an initial matterthe Court
will not againaddress Defendants’ arguments about Remondi’s statements or the rebakildy
confidential withessesvhich were rejected for the reasons explained ab8eesupralll(E)(3)
and llI(E)@)(a). The scienter allegations as to the loan statements idtresluce anew
confidential withnessCW4, but this confidential witne$egs the same characteristics as the other
three confidential witnesses and, therefore, there is no reason to treat thditgretiifis or her
allegations differently! (D.l. 59 at 17 748). That leaves Defendants’ argumehgsed orthe
core operations doctrine and motive and opportlaliggations

The Complaint relies on the core operations doctrine to allegmtsi with respect to the
loan statements, becauselinquencies, defaults, and chaajés were “key financial metric[s]”
for Navient. (D.l. 59 af 73). As discussed previousiyjs not enough under the core operations
doctrine for a matter to be okntral importance to compangcomplaint must also allege that
specific information related to the fraud was conveyed to manage®Rehiman 736 F.3d at 237.
Here the Complaint’s scienter allegations with respect to the credit facility staterfeeles for
that reasonSee suprdll(D)(2). But theComplaint does not suffer the same infirmity with respect
to the loan statementdt relies on allegations from confidential witnesses, which the Court has
previously determined are credible, to aflébat specific information regarding the fraud around
forbearance, chargaffs, and delinquencies, was conveyedhe individual defendants Kane,

Remondi, and Chivavibul. (D.l. 59 at {1 7678

1 CW4 is Navient Collections Support Manager who worked in that position from the spring

of 2010 until February 2015. (D.l. 59 at { 76).
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The Complaint alleges that Defendants were motivatechanipulate Navient’s financial
results to meet market expectati@mslprevent bad news from causing further dropNaient’s
stock price (Id. at 1174, 8382). Under the PSLRA;[m] otive must be supported by facts stated
‘with particularity, and must give rise to ‘&trong inferenceof scientef. GSC Partners CDO
Fund v. Washingtqr868 F.3d 228, 237 (3d Ci2004) (quotingn re Advanta180 F.3d at 535
Therefore,[m]otives that are generally possessed by most corporate directorffiaatsao not
suffice; instead, plaintiffs must assert a concrete and personal benedtitalividual defendants
resulting from this fraud.” GSC Partners CDO Fund v. Washingto®68 F.3d 228, 237
(3d Cir. 2004) (quotingalnit v. Eichler 264 F.3d 131139 (2d Cir200]). A “desire to manage
[a company’s] earnings in order to meet analyst and market expectatiasa general corporate
motive’ thatdoes not give rise ta strong inference of scientem re Great Atlantic & Pacific
Tea Co., Inc. Sed.itig., 103 F.App’x 465, 469 (3d Cir2004). Because the only motive the
Complaint alleges as to the loan statements is a desire to meet market expectatiessgetiter
allegationsdhased on motive and opportunityst be disregarded

But, thescienter analysis is “case specific” and should “rest not on the presencerareabs
of certain types of allegations but on a practical judgment about whether, act¢bptwgole
factual picture painted by the Complaint, it is at least as likelyoathat defendants acted with
scienter.” Avaya 564 F.3d at 269:The pertinent question is ‘whethall of the facts alleged,
taken collectively, give rise to a strong inference of scienter, not whethardawidual allegation,
scrutinized in isolation, meets that standardd’ at 26768 (quotingTellabs 551 U.S.at 323).
Even aftersetting aside thallegations based on motive and opporturitgCourt cannot conclude

at this time that theemaining allegations the Complaint considered holistically, fail to support
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a reasonable inferenad scienter with repect to the loan statementB®efendats’ motion to
dismissthe Exchange Act claims based on the loan staterrsedé&nied.

V. CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, Defendamstion to dismiss th€omplaint for failure to state
a claim pursuant to Fed. R. Civ. P. 12(b)(6) (D.l. 63prantedin-part and denieth-part.
Defendants’ motion is granted as to all claims based on the compliance statanertse
Exchange Act claims based on the credit facility statements. Defendantish is denied in all
other respects. The Securitidst and Exchange Act claims based on the compliance statements
are dismissed with prejudice. The Exchange Act claims based on the credjt $taidments are

dismissed without prejudice. An appropriatel€ will be entered.
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